WHO preferred product characteristics for gonococcal vaccines



WHO preferred product characteristics for gonococcal vaccines



WHO preferred product characteristics for gonococcal vaccines

ISBN 978-92-4-003982-7 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-003983-4 (print version)

$\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo</u>).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (<u>http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/</u>).

Suggested citation. WHO preferred product characteristics for gonococcal vaccines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. Licence: <u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO</u>.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see <u>http://apps.who.int/bookorders</u>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <u>https://www.who.int/copyright</u>.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

Ack	nowledgements	iv
Abb	previations	vi
Exe	cutive summary	vii
1.	Purpose of WHO preferred product characteristics	1
2.	Gonococcal vaccines – a strategic priority	2
2.1.	Strategic public health goals for gonococcal vaccines	2
3.	Background on gonococcal infection and disease	3
3.1.	Asymptomatic infection and acute symptom syndromes	4
3.2	. Upper genital tract complications	4
3.3	. Adverse pregnancy outcomes and mother-to-child transmission	4
3.4	. Increased HIV acquisition and transmission risk	4
3.5	. Other complications of gonococcal infection	4
4.	Epidemiology of gonococcal infection and disease	5
4.1.	Global infection estimates	5
4.2	. Gonococcal infection by age and population group	5
4.3	. Gonococcal infection trends	5
4.4	. Burden of disease related to gonococcal infection	5
5.	Antimicrobial resistance	6
6.	Existing interventions for gonorrhoea management and control	7
6.1.	Primary prevention	7
6.2	. Diagnosis of gonococcal infection	7
6.3	. Treatment of gonococcal infection	7
6.4	. Gonorrhoea control programmes	7
7.	Public health value considerations for gonococcal vaccines	8
7.1.	Modelling of gonococcal vaccine impact	8
8.	Gonococcal vaccine development	9
8.1.	Feasibility of gonococcal vaccine development	9
8.2	. Gonococcal vaccine development approaches	10
8.3	. Clinical development considerations	10
9.	Considerations for vaccine implementation	12
9.1.	Target populations	12
9.2	. Vaccine characteristics	12
9.3	. Programmatic considerations	13
10.	. Preferred product characteristics for gonococcal vaccines	14
11	References	21

Acknowledgements

The Departments of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research; Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals; and Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes at the World Health Organization (WHO) would like to thank the many individuals who contributed to the development of this document. The consultation process for developing gonococcal vaccine preferred product characteristics (PPCs) and preparation of this publication were coordinated by Sami Gottlieb and Nita Bellare, WHO Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research (SRH), and Birgitte Giersing, Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals (IVB), with assistance from Anthony Marfin (PATH) and Maeve B. Mello, Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes (HHS).

An initial gonococcal vaccine PPC consultation was convened in Switzerland in January 2019, and a follow-up consultation was convened virtually in May 2020. Both meetings played an important role in the development of this gonococcal vaccine PPC document. WHO would like to sincerely thank the following individuals who attended one or both consultations and commented on drafts of this document.

External attendees: Laith Abu-Raddad, Weill Cornell Medicine-Qatar, Qatar; Emilie Alirol, GARDP/DNDi, Switzerland; Winston Abara, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), United States of America (USA); Laura Bachmann, CDC, USA; Kyle Bernstein, CDC, USA; Gail Bolan, CDC, USA; Ray Borrow, Public Health England, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (the United Kingdom); Elizabeth Bukusi, Kenya Medical Research Institute, Kenya; Xiang-Sheng Chen, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences Institute of Dermatology, China; Carolyn Deal, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), USA; Sinead Delany-Moretlwe, University of Witwatersrand, South Africa; Eileen Dunne, CDC, Thailand; Deepa Gamage, Ministry of Health (MoH) Sri Lanka; Peter Gardner, Wellcome Trust, the United Kingdom; Pamela Gaspar, MoH, Brazil; Lee Harrison, University of Pittsburgh, USA; Thomas Hiltke, NIAID, USA; Edward (Ned) Hook III (co-chair), University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA; Ann Jerse, Uniformed Services University of Health Services, USA; David Kaslow, PATH, USA; Elizabeth Klemm, Wellcome Trust, the United Kingdom; Ranmini Kularatne, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, South Africa; Nicola Low, University of Bern, Switzerland; Calman MacLennan, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, the United Kingdom; Otilia Mårdh, European Centre for Disease Control and Prevention,

Sweden; Anthony Marfin, PATH, USA; Philippe Mayaud, Medical Research Centre, Uganda, and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, the United Kingdom; Robert McDonald, CDC, USA; Angélica Espinosa Barbosa Miranda, MoH, Brazil; Francis Ndowa (co-chair), Skin and Genito-Urinary Medicine Clinic, Zimbabwe; Catherine Ngugi, MoH Kenya; Saidatul Norbaya bt Buang, MoH, Malaysia; Fernando Pascual Martinez, GARDP/DNDi, Switzerland; Helen Petousis-Harris, University of Auckland, New Zealand; Reshmie Ramautarsing, Thai Red Cross AIDS Research Centre, Thailand; Gita Ramjee, South African Medical Research Centre, South Africa; Michael Russell, University of Buffalo, USA; Kate Seib, Griffith University, Australia; Pachara Sirivongrangson, Thailand MoH, Thailand; Michiel Stork, Intravacc, the Netherlands; the United Kingdom; Katy Turner, University of Bristol, the United Kingdom; Magnus Unemo, Örebro University, Sweden; Leah Vincent, NIAID, USA; Peter White, Imperial College, the United Kingdom; Susu Zughaier, Qatar University, Qatar.

All external attendees completed WHO Declaration of Interests statements, and their participation in the meeting and commenting on PPC document drafts were in accordance with the Organization's guidelines for Declaration of Interests for WHO experts.

WHO Headquarters and Regional Office attendees: Ian Askew, SRH; Nyambat Batmunkh, WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific (WPRO); Nita Bellare, SRH; Paul Bloem, IVB; Anne Brink, WPRO, Nathalie Broutet, SRH; Shona Dalal, HHS; Maeve B. Mello, HHS; Meg Doherty, HHS; Antoine Durupt, IVB; Martin Friede, IVB; Massimo Ghidinelli, PAHO; Birgitte Giersing, IVB; Sami Gottlieb, SRH; Mateusz Hasso-Agopsowicz, IVB; Joumana George Hermez, WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean (EMRO); Julian Hickling, WHO consultant; Raymond Hutubessy, IVB; Naoko Ishikawa, WPRO; Rebecca Jones, WHO consultant; James Kiarie, SRH; Yamuna Mundade, HHS; Nasrin Musa, EMRO; Tondo Opute Emmanuel Njambe, WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia (SEARO); Marie-Pierre Preziosi, IVB; Holly Prudden, IVB; Bharat Rewari, SEARO; Jane Rowley, WHO Consultant; Ahmed Sabry Alaama, EMRO; Saliyou Sanni, AFRO; Nicole Seguy, WHO Regional Office for Europe (EURO); Mukta Sharma, SEARO; Marc Sprenger, WHO Department of Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR); Melanie Taylor, HHS/SRH; Igor Toskin, SRH; Johan Vekemans, IVB; Elena Vovc, EURO; Susan Wang, IVB; Teodora Wi, HHS/SRH.

Industry observers at the two meetings: Kathrin Jansen, Pfizer, USA; Jacqueline McCluskey, Sanofi Pasteur, USA; Mariagrazia Pizza, GSK Vaccines, Italy; Obadiah Plante, Moderna Therapeutics, USA; Lingjiang Yang, Chengdu Institute of Biological Products, China.

WHO gratefully acknowledges the following meeting participants for providing additional input on the document drafts: Laith Abu-Raddad, Weill Cornell Medicine-Qatar, Qatar; Xiang-Sheng Chen, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences Institute of Dermatology, China; Carolyn Deal, NIAID, USA; Sinead Delany-Moretlwe, University of Witwatersrand, South Africa; Edward (Ned) Hook III, University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA; Anthony Marfin, PATH, USA; Philippe Mayaud, Medical Research Centre, Uganda, and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, the United Kingdom; Robert McDonald, CDC, USA; Angélica Espinosa Barbosa Miranda, MoH, Brazil; Francis Ndowa, Skin and Genito-Urinary Medicine Clinic, Zimbabwe. Finally, WHO thanks the members of the public and gonococcal infection prevention community who commented on the document through the online public consultation process, and the WHO Product Development for Vaccines Advisory Committee (PDVAC; <u>https://www.who.int/groups/product-development-for-vaccines-advisory-committee</u>) who gave a final round of input.

Funding

This work was supported by the UNDP-UNFPA-UNICEF-WHO-World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP) and by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases of the National Institutes of Health (Grant U01AI139547). The January 2019 gonococcal vaccine PPC consultation was also supported by the Global Challenges Research Fund (GCRF) Networks in Vaccines Research and Development, which was cofunded by the Medical Research Council (MRC) and Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC), through a BactiVac Catalyst Funding Grant (BVNCP-03).

Abbreviations

AMR antimicrobial resistance	
CHIM controlled human infection model	NAAT nucleic acid amplification test
	OMP outer membrane protein
GASP Gonococcal Antimicrobial Surveillance Programme	OMV outer membrane vesicle
HICs high-income countries	PID pelvic inflammatory disease
HIV human immunodeficiency virus	PPCs preferred product characteristics
HPV human papillomavirus	PrEP pre-exposure prophylaxis (for HIV)
lg immunoglobulin	SAGE WHO Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization
LMICs low- and middle-income countries	
LOS linealizada atherida	SRH sexual and reproductive health
LOS Ilpooligosaccharide	STIsexually transmitted infection
MenB Neisseria meningitidis serogroup B	
	WHO World Health Organization
MSM men who have sex with men	

Executive summary

The development of a vaccine for *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* is an important goal for improving sexual and reproductive health (SRH) worldwide. Gonorrhoea is a common sexually transmitted infection (STI); an estimated 82 million new gonococcal infections occurred worldwide in 2020 (1). Gonococcal infection has substantial morbidity through a wide range of adverse SRH consequences, including pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), infertility, adverse pregnancy outcomes, elevated risk for HIV acquisition and transmission, and neonatal conjunctivitis. Increasing *N. gonorrhoeae* antimicrobial resistance (AMR) has raised the possibility of untreatable gonococcal infections, which would heighten the threat to SRH globally (2).

The World Health Organization (WHO) Global Health Sector Strategy on STIs has set 2030 targets for reducing incidence of *N. gonorrhoeae* infection by 90% *(3)*. Recognizing that this reduction may not be achievable with current interventions, and given increasing AMR, the Strategy has emphasized the need to develop effective gonococcal vaccines. No currently licensed gonococcal vaccines exist. However, interest in gonococcal vaccine development has been reinvigorated not only by the marked increases in gonococcal AMR, but also by mounting scientific data suggesting gonococcal vaccines are biologically feasible, particularly observational studies suggesting that outer membrane vesicle (OMV)-based *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup B (MenB) vaccines may provide cross-protection against *N. gonorrhoeae (4, 5)*.

WHO preferred product characteristics (PPCs) documents provide guidance on WHO's preferences for new vaccines in priority disease areas, including from the perspective of low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). Articulation of product attributes that meet the needs of LMICs, while also addressing concerns of high-income countries (HICs), can advance development of vaccines that are suitable for global use. As a first step in defining gonococcal vaccine PPCs, a WHO-convened group of experts identified two overarching public health goals, of equal priority, for gonococcal vaccines:

- to prevent adverse SRH outcomes related to gonococcal infection, and
- to reduce the impact of gonococcal AMR.

This document describes PPCs for gonococcal vaccines. To meet global public health goals, the preferred vaccine indication is prevention of gonococcal infection, given large numbers of asymptomatic infections that can lead to SRH complications and AMR. Preferred target populations may vary by setting, but include young people (defined as ages 10-24 years) and/or specific populations at higher risk for gonococcal infection, such as men who have sex with men (MSM), sex workers and other vulnerable populations based on country specificities. The choice of broad-based vaccination of young people and/or targeted vaccination of populations at higher risk will depend on such factors as gonococcal epidemiology, vaccine efficacy and cost effectiveness, duration of vaccine protection, and programmatic considerations. These factors can also help refine specific target ages for vaccination among all young people and higher-risk populations with the greatest need for vaccination, in different settings.

Although vaccines specifically formulated to optimize efficacy against gonococcal infection and related outcomes are preferred, this document also examines considerations for the potential use of MenB vaccines to prevent gonococcal infection, if these vaccines are found to provide some cross-protection against gonococcal infection in clinical trials. As these vaccines are already in use for MenB disease prevention, they could be available for gonococcal infection sooner than gonococcusspecific vaccines.

1. Purpose of WHO preferred product characteristics

The mission of the World Health Organization's (WHO's) Vaccine Product and Delivery Research Unit is to accelerate the development and optimal use of safe and effective vaccines and related technologies that could have global public health impact. Priority areas include both facilitating advancement of vaccine candidates towards licensure and generating evidence to inform policy recommendations and vaccine introduction while candidate vaccines are in development. Identifying and articulating vaccine preferences that meet global health needs, early in product development, is fundamental to this mission.

WHO vaccine preferred product characteristics (PPCs) describe such preferred parameters as vaccine indications and target populations, considerations for safety and efficacy evaluation, and delivery strategies *(6)*. WHO PPCs are intended to encourage product innovation and facilitate vaccine development, particularly for use in low-and middle-income countries (LMICs), which often have the largest unmet public health need. Because vaccine manufacturers often develop vaccines for initial use in high-income countries (HICs), first-generation vaccines may not be suitable for use in LMICs, and broader vaccine introduction and impact can be substantially delayed. WHO PPCs emphasize LMIC perspectives, in addition to those for HICs, to encourage development of vaccines for global use.

PPCs are pathogen-specific rather than product-specific, and they are intended to provide early guidance on vaccine development strategies and inform the subsequent development of target product profiles. At the earliest stages of vaccine development (as with this document), the PPC guidance is intended to be broad, to encourage innovation and stimulate further dialogue regarding the desired product attributes that will optimally address the public health need and facilitate real-world use. The PPCs will be updated with more specific guidance when clinical trial data become available, or in the event of changes in the identified need or changes in the research and development landscape.

The primary target audience for WHO PPCs is any entity intending to develop a vaccine for LMIC use and planning to seek WHO policy recommendations and prequalification for their products (7). However, it is important to note that while PPCs define aspirational goals for vaccine attributes, they do not supersede the evidence-based assessment by WHO's Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization (SAGE) or other existing WHO guidance on vaccine development (8, 9).



Immunization nurses in Ghana.

© WHO / Francis Kokoroko

2. Gonococcal vaccines – a strategic priority

Gonorrhoea, the sexually transmitted infection (STI) caused by Neisseria gonorrhoeae, a bacterium known as the gonococcus, has been a persistent public health problem for centuries. Although it is a curable infection, recent increases in gonococcal antimicrobial resistance (AMR) seriously threaten to further compromise gonorrhoea prevention and control (2). Gonococcal infection is widespread throughout the world, with an estimated 82 million new infections each year (1). However, gonococcal infection and its related disease outcomes disproportionately affect people living in LMICs. Untreated, or inadequately treated, gonorrhoea can lead to such adverse sexual and reproductive health (SRH) outcomes as infertility, adverse pregnancy outcomes, increased risk of HIV acquisition and transmission, and ongoing transmission of *N. gonorrhoeae* to sexual partners and neonates. Thus, the rising risk of untreatable gonococcal infection poses a global health threat.

Given these concerns, the WHO Global Health Sector Strategy on STIs has identified gonorrhoea as one of three prioritized STIs requiring immediate action for control, and it has set targets for reducing gonococcal infection incidence by 90% by 2030 *(3)*. However, sustainable control of gonococcal infections might not be achievable with current interventions, particularly given the evolving AMR situation. Thus, the Strategy also emphasizes the need for innovations for gonorrhoea control, including effective gonococcal vaccines. Observational studies, demonstrating that outer membrane vesicle (OMV)-based *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup B (MenB) vaccines appear to provide some protection against gonococcal infection, support the notion that development of gonococcal vaccines is biologically feasible *(4)*.

Several global vaccine-related initiatives reinforce the importance of gonococcal vaccine development as a public health priority. The WHO Global Roadmap to Advance STI Vaccine Development and WHO's Product Development for Vaccines Advisory Committee (PDVAC) have highlighted the need for gonococcal vaccines for global use (10–12). In addition, a greater global emphasis has been placed on the role of vaccines in the fight against AMR more generally, and *N. gonorrhoeae* vaccine development features prominently in these efforts (13, 14).

2.1. Strategic public health goals for gonococcal vaccines

In 2019, WHO convened a global, multidisciplinary consultation comprised of basic scientists, microbiologists, clinicians, epidemiologists, vaccinologists, and public health programme and policy experts, from LMICs and HICs, to discuss the need, goals and potential value of gonococcal vaccines and key considerations for developing gonococcal vaccine PPCs *(15)*.

Gonococcal vaccines could have a range of potential benefits, at both the individual and population level, including prevention of infection, symptomatic gonococcal disease and other SRH complications, such as infertility, adverse pregnancy outcomes, and increased HIV acquisition and transmission risk. It could also potentially lead to a reduction in community-wide transmission of *N. gonorrhoeae*, including AMR strains. Considering these potential benefits in the context of the global public health need, the experts defined two overarching, strategic public health goals, of equal priority, for gonococcal vaccines for global use:

- to prevent adverse SRH outcomes related to gonococcal infection, and
- to reduce the impact of gonococcal AMR.

A complete list of adverse SRH outcomes related to gonococcal infection is shown in Box 1. Determining specific outcomes that are the highest priority prevention goal for gonococcal vaccines, such as infertility, can be refined with improved data on the global burden of each outcome, the potential impact of AMR and cost-effectiveness modelling. The full rationale for the strategic goals in the setting of detailed discussions on gonococcal infection, SRH outcomes and AMR can be found in the meeting report from the WHO consultation *(15)*.

3. Background on gonococcal infection and disease

N. gonorrhoeae is an obligate human pathogen that is primarily transmitted through genital, oral and anal sexual contact, infecting mucosal surfaces at these sites (16). Transmission is highly efficient, and a substantial proportion of people become infected after a single exposure (17). *N. gonorrhoeae* can also be transmitted to neonates from infected mothers during childbirth, typically infecting the conjunctival mucosa. Infection at all sites can be asymptomatic or cause acute symptom syndromes, and both asymptomatic and symptomatic acute infections can lead to additional SRH complications, which result directly from the infection itself or from the inflammatory response to infection (Box 1).

Box 1. Potential adverse SRH outcomes of gonococcal infection Symptomatic gonorrhoea at site of initial infection Adverse pregnancy outcomes - Urethritis (primarily males) - Miscarriage - Cervicitis - Chorioamnionitis Pharyngitis Premature rupture of membranes Proctitis - Premature birth Conjunctivitis - Low birth weight Symptomatic upper genital tract disease Neonatal conjunctivitis and related vision loss Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) Tubo-ovarian abscess Increased risk of HIV acquisition and transmission - Epididymo-orchitis Disseminated gonococcal infection Disease resulting from genital tract scarring Gonococcemia - Infertility (primarily females) Gonococcal arthritis and tenosynovitis - Ectopic pregnancy, including risk of death due to Gonococcal endocarditis tubal rupture - Gonococcal meningitis - Chronic pelvic pain (females) Urethral stricture (males) Psychosocial consequences, including stigma and effects on sexual relationships



Pregnant women in Colombia awaiting medical consultation.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ David Spitz

3.1. Asymptomatic infection and acute symptom syndromes

Asymptomatic and unrecognized gonococcal infections comprise a large proportion of all infections. In women, the vast majority of gonococcal cervical infections have no or only mild symptoms, such as vaginal discharge, that may be mistaken for other reproductive tract conditions *(18)*. Coinfections, particularly with *Chlamydia trachomatis*, frequently occur *(19)*.

It is generally accepted that acute lower genital tract infection is more often symptomatic in men than in women, typically manifesting as urethritis with purulent discharge or dysuria within five days of infection. However, some studies have suggested that the majority of incident gonococcal infections are asymptomatic in men as well as women (20). Clinic-based studies demonstrate higher proportions of men with symptomatic gonococcal urethritis and suggest that recognition of symptoms may vary by country (21, 22). Modelled estimates in an African setting suggest 45% of male gonococcal infections and 14% of female infections become symptomatic (21). Extra-genital infections of the oropharynx and rectum are asymptomatic in most people, but can cause symptomatic pharyngitis and proctitis, respectively.

3.2. Upper genital tract complications

The most common severe complication of acute gonococcal infection is upper genital tract infection among women. Both asymptomatic and symptomatic cervical infections can ascend to the upper genital tract. Data regarding the precise proportion of *N. gonorrhoeae* cervical infections that ascend are limited. However, it is estimated that 15% or more of untreated infections ascend to cause clinically apparent pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), an infection of the uterus, fallopian tubes and/or ovaries that causes an acute lower abdominal pain syndrome (*23*). Severity varies: upper tract gonococcal infections can be subclinical or unrecognized (*24*), or they can occasionally result in tuboovarian abscesses or life-threatening peritonitis.

Whether from clinically diagnosed or subclinical PID, inflammation of the upper genital tract can damage and scar the fallopian tubes and other organs, which can eventually lead to such SRH complications as infertility, ectopic pregnancy and chronic pelvic pain (24, 25). Up to 15–20% of women with an episode of documented gonococcal PID develop infertility (25–27). The risk of upper tract scarring complications is directly proportional to the delay in treatment of PID (28). In LMICs where adequate treatment of gonococcal PID may be delayed or

unavailable, a higher proportion of infections might result in adverse SRH outcomes (29).

Ascending infection is much less common among men, especially as infections are more likely to be symptomatic and promptly treated, but possible upper tract complications include epididymo-orchitis and, rarely, urethral stricture or male infertility *(18)*.

3.3. Adverse pregnancy outcomes and mother-to-child transmission

Gonorrhoea among pregnant women has been associated with increased risk for adverse pregnancy outcomes, including spontaneous abortion, intrauterine growth restriction, premature rupture of membranes, preterm birth, low infant birthweight, chorioamnionitis and postpartum endometrial infection (30-32). However, the precise risks for each outcome have not been well defined, especially in LMICs (30). Perinatal transmission of *N. gonorrhoeae* can result in neonatal conjunctivitis, which was a frequent cause of blindness before the institution of topical ocular antibiotic prophylaxis for neonates globally (33, 34).

3.4. Increased HIV acquisition and transmission risk

Epidemiologic and biologic data indicate a link between the inflammatory STIs, such as gonorrhoea, with a two- to three-fold increased risk for HIV infection (35, 36). Although gonococcal infection may be a marker of unprotected sex, which also increases HIV acquisition risk, it is thought that the inflammatory response to infection damages the genital or rectal epithelium and increases the availability of HIV target cells, such as CD4⁺ T cells, making the genital or rectal mucosa more prone to HIV infection (37, 38). Gonococcal infection may also contribute to HIV infection indirectly through its effect on fertility, as women with secondary infertility who desire pregnancy may be at greater HIV risk because of more frequent unprotected sex (39). In addition, when people living with HIV also have an acute gonococcal infection, genital HIV RNA load increases, which may increase HIV transmissibility (38, 40, 41).

3.5. Other complications of gonococcal infection

Gonococcal infection is associated with a range of other adverse SRH outcomes, not least of which is the related psychosocial consequences, including stigma and effects on sexual relationships. These consequences may be related to gonococcal infection itself or associated disease outcomes. For example, infertility can have substantial social costs, particularly in LMIC settings where fertility is highly valued *(42)*. Uncommon complications include disseminated

gonococcal infection, which can manifest as gonococcal bacteraemia, tenosynovitis, septic arthritis, and occasionally gonococcal endocarditis or meningitis *(18, 43)*.

4. Epidemiology of gonococcal infection and disease

4.1. Global infection estimates

Gonococcal infections are found throughout the world, with an estimated global incidence of 82 million (CI: 48–130 million) new infections among 15 to 49-year-olds during 2020 (1). This reflects global incidence rates of 19/1000 women and 23/1000 men in that age group (1). However, striking variations in prevalence and incidence can exist between regions and countries. For example, general-population estimates of gonococcal infection prevalence among women have ranged from <0.1% during 2010–2012 in England (44), to 6.6% in South Africa (45), to >14% in antenatal clinics in Papua New Guinea (46). Level of economic development is a clear predictor of country-level burden of gonococcal infections occur in LMICs, with the greatest prevalence and incidence rates in low-income countries (1).

4.2. Gonococcal infection by age and population group

Gonococcal epidemiology can also vary within countries. Throughout the world, the highest incidence of gonococcal infection typically occurs in the 15 to 24-year-old age group (older adolescents and young adults) compared with older ages, with peak incidence in young adults (20–24 years) *(19, 47)*. Gonococcal infections may continue to be acquired in older age groups, particularly in populations at higher risk for gonococcal infection *(47, 48)*.

Populations at higher risk for gonococcal infection include four of the five key populations that are defined by WHO for focused HIV prevention activities: men who have sex with men (MSM), people in prisons, sex workers and transgender people. People living with HIV (PLHIV) are also at higher risk *(49)*. Key populations are groups who, due to specific higher-risk behaviours and social-economic vulnerabilities, are at higher risk for gonococcal infection in most settings. Groups at higher risk for gonococcal infection also include vulnerable populations; they are defined by WHO as groups of people who are particularly vulnerable to infection in certain situations or contexts that may vary between and within countries (49, 50). Some examples of vulnerable populations with respect to gonococcal infection include ethnic minorities or Indigenous populations with historical barriers to healthcare access, migrants, or young people (especially adolescent girls and young women) living in communities with known high rates of gonococcal infection or HIV (51).

Gonococcal infection prevalence and incidence can be several-fold higher for key and vulnerable populations, both in HICs with relatively low general population prevalence and in LMICs with more generalized epidemics *(17, 19, 52)*. In a global meta-analysis of studies among people using pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) to prevent HIV infection, gonorrhoea incidence was approximately 37/100 personyears *(53)*. Differences in gonococcal infection epidemiology between men and women in many countries appear to be primarily due to higher rates of infection among MSM *(47, 48)*.

4.3. Gonococcal infection trends

Global estimates of gonococcal infection prevalence and incidence in 2020, based on published prevalence surveys, were not significantly different from estimates in 2016 (1). However, over the past decade, surveillance data from HICs that had previously had relatively good control of gonorrhoea have shown steady increases in case reports, beyond what is likely attributable to increased testing and use of sensitive nucleic acid amplification tests (NAATs). For example, in the United States, gonorrhoea case reports increased 83% in 10 years through 2018 (47); in Australia, an 80% increase in 5 years through 2017 (54); and, in England, a 26% increase from 2017–2018 (52). These increases were greatest among MSM and among adolescents and young adults more generally. Several health jurisdictions have noted an association between factors such as the expansion of PrEP programmes to prevent HIV, increased use of geospatial applications to find sex partners; and HIV serosorting behaviours with increases in gonorrhoea incidence (17).

4.4. Burden of disease related to gonococcal infection

Given what is known about the proportion of untreated gonococcal cervical infections that cause upper genital tract disease such as infertility (Section 3.2), the global burden of adverse SRH outcomes due to gonococcal infection, especially in LMICs, could be substantial. However, gonococcal-associated disease outcomes have not been quantified with precision. During the 1980s, a large study reported that approximately 85% of female infertility in sub-Saharan Africa was due to tubal scarring resulting from infection *(55)*. However, few studies have been conducted since then to quantify the burden of infertility in different settings and the likelihood that gonorrhoea was a contributing factor. Quantifying this burden is difficult because adverse SRH outcomes have multiple infectious causes. In addition, outcomes such as infertility and ectopic pregnancy may only be recognized years after infection. Several trials are underway to assess adverse pregnancy outcomes that may be prevented by screening and treating for STIs, including gonococcal infection *(30)*.

5. Antimicrobial resistance

N. gonorrhoeae AMR is a major public health concern globally (2, 56, 57). Since antibiotics were first used to treat *N. gonorrhoeae*, the organism has evolved or acquired resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics through nearly all known molecular, biochemical, metabolic and physiological AMR mechanisms, including the ability to rapidly and efficiently exchange partial or whole genes (*transformation*) with many nonpathogenic, commensal *Neisseria* species (59). *N. gonorrhoeae* is a WHO high-priority pathogen for research and development because of increasing AMR to extended spectrum cephalosporins, which is the only remaining firstline monotherapy for gonorrhoea (2, 56, 60).

WHO's Gonococcal Antimicrobial Surveillance Programme (GASP) laboratory network included 73 participating countries as of 2018. During 2017–2018, decreased susceptibility or resistance to ceftriaxone was reported by 21 (31%) of 68 reporting countries and to cefixime by 24 (47%) of 51 reporting countries (2). In addition, six countries, primarily in the WHO Western Pacific Region, reported \geq 5% of isolates with either decreased susceptibility or resistance to ceftriaxone, and nine countries, mainly in Europe, reported \geq 5% of isolates with either decreased susceptibility or resistance to cefixime (2). Most countries reporting to GASP are HICs; data are lacking in many settings, particularly in LMICs.

Verified clinical treatment failures with extended spectrum cephalosporins have occurred sporadically in several countries since the early 2000s, initially just with cephalosporin monotherapy and, more recently, with currently recommended dual therapy with ceftriaxone plus azithromycin (2, 61, 62). Most of these treatment failures have been for pharyngeal infection, potentially related to reduced bioavailability of antibiotics in the oropharynx relative to anogenital sites, among other factors (2). However, dual therapy treatment failure has now been documented for urethral infection with a *N. gonorrhoeae* isolate, with confirmed combined high-level azithromycin resistance and ceftriaxone resistance (61).



Bacterial colonies to be selected for AMR testing.

© Jarun Ontakrai

6. Existing interventions for gonorrhoea management and control

Given the variability in gonococcal epidemiology between countries, which is related to the equally great variability in access to healthcare, several approaches to gonococcal infection prevention, management and control exist.

6.1. Primary prevention

Primary prevention of gonococcal infection currently consists of comprehensive sex education and condom promotion, which are essential but have had limited sustained success on their own, given difficulties in maintaining safer sex behaviour over time. In particular, condom use among MSM and other populations at higher risk has decreased in the context of expanding biomedical options for HIV prevention *(63)*.

6.2. Diagnosis of gonococcal infection

In much of the world, particularly LMICs, gonorrhoea management involves a syndromic approach, using a constellation of symptoms to guide treatment without the use of diagnostic tests. With respect to identifying gonococcal infections, the syndromic approach works better for men who are more likely than women to have symptoms. In women, the vaginal discharge syndrome is poorly predictive of gonococcal cervical infection *(64, 65)*. Gonococcal urethritis in men can also be diagnosed using Gram stain microscopy, which can be done at the point-of-care but is not available in all settings. Gram stain microscopy is not sufficiently sensitive for diagnosing cervical infections in women and extragenital infections in both sexes.

Accurate *N. gonorrhoeae* NAATs exist for etiologic diagnosis of symptomatic gonococcal infection and screening for asymptomatic infection. Laboratory-based NAATs are expensive, do not yield rapid results, and often require infrastructure and technical staff capacity that are inaccessible in many low-resource settings *(65)*. Work is underway to expand availability of accurate diagnostics for gonococcal infection that are affordable and can feasibly be performed at or near the point-of-care *(66)*. *N. gonorrhoeae* culture is not as sensitive as NAATs and is more complicated to obtain, but is currently essential for comprehensive gonococcal AMR testing. Efforts are also underway to develop rapid phenotypic approaches and genetic point-ofcare tests for gonococcal AMR *(67)*.

6.3. Treatment of gonococcal infection

Existing WHO guidelines recommend dual therapy, with an extended spectrum cephalosporin plus azithromycin as a single dose to treat uncomplicated gonococcal infection (34). The regimen currently has high cure rates but is being threatened by steadily progressive gonococcal AMR (Section 5). At least two new antibiotics for gonorrhoea are in clinical trials, but it is unclear when a candidate will become widely available for global use (68). Given the propensity of N. gonorrhoeae to develop or acquire resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics, AMR will likely continue to be a concern for current and future antibiotics. Efforts are ongoing to ensure appropriate antimicrobial stewardship, improved diagnosis to guide antibiotic use, and further combination therapy approaches (2). Additional interventions, such as microbicides and mouthwashes, are also being studied (69).

6.4. Gonorrhoea control programmes

Gonorrhoea control programmes have revolved around primary prevention through condom promotion, finding and treating people with gonococcal infections, and finding and treating sex partners of those infected. The extent to which each of those components is conducted in different settings, however, is widely variable, based primarily on healthcare resources, infrastructure and political commitment. In most LMICs, dependence on syndromic management has left most gonococcal infections, which are asymptomatic, undiagnosed. In these settings, screening for gonococcal infection using NAATs is only recommended for populations at particularly high risk for gonococcal infection, but this is only sporadically implemented, due to cost and feasibility concerns *(49)*.

Several countries with greater resources have built effective public health programmes for gonorrhoea that not only test and treat people with symptomatic infection, but also screen broader populations for gonococcal infection and attempt to contact and treat the sex partners of infected people. Many of these programmes have been associated with decreased incidence of gonococcal infection and, in all probability, of diseases such as PID and infertility as well (70–72). However, these settings have observed recent increases in the incidence of gonococcal infection, in particular among MSM (47, 48, 52, 54).

7. Public health value considerations for gonococcal vaccines

Given the challenges with existing interventions and the increasing threat of AMR, gonococcal vaccines are, in all likelihood, the best option for the future sustainable control of gonococcal infection. AMR, in particular, increases the value of vaccines relative to other approaches of controlling gonococcal infection. Historically, vaccines have been used for many decades against a wide range of pathogens without generating clinically significant AMR, unlike antibiotics (*73, 74*). In addition, vaccines can potentially reduce AMR by directly preventing gonococcal infections, including resistant infections, by interrupting transmission and by reducing antibiotic use and thus selective pressure (*75*).

The potential value of gonococcal vaccines in meeting global public health and societal needs was discussed at the 2019 WHO-convened meeting of experts; related considerations, country perspectives and research needs are found in the meeting report *(15)*. The greatest potential value of gonococcal vaccines lies in the ability to prevent the most morbid gonococcal-related SRH outcomes, such as infertility and pregnancy complications. However, more precisely defining that value will depend on obtaining better data on the burden of these outcomes in diverse settings, including in LMICs. In addition, the value will depend on to what extent gonococcal AMR is likely to increase, over what period, and how that might translate into treatment failures, lengthier and more costly treatment regimens, and increases in infection and disease outcomes.

Given the global need for gonococcal vaccines in both HICs and LMICs, these vaccines should not only be cost-effective but also affordable, so that price is not a barrier to access, including for LMICs.

7.1. Modelling of gonococcal vaccine impact

Mathematical modelling can be used to predict current and future trends in *N. gonorrhoeae* infection, disease and AMR; the potential impact of gonococcal vaccines; and the vaccine characteristics that could affect impact *(76–80)*. Existing modelling studies suggest that gonococcal vaccines might not require high efficacy to have substantive population effects *(76, 79, 80)*. Even with gonococcal vaccine efficacy of only 20–30%, similar to what was observed in studies of OMV-based MenB vaccines and gonorrhoea in New Zealand *(4, 81)*, vaccination could result in substantial decreases in gonococcal infections if vaccine coverage is high and if protection lasts over the highest-risk period for acquiring infection (76, 79, 80). A model looking at the predicted impact of gonococcal vaccination on AMR suggested that vaccines with low efficacy can delay but not prevent AMR, but vaccines with efficacy of 70% or more (with uptake of 40% among MSM with high levels of sexual activity) can prevent the spread of gonococcal AMR and potentially eliminate gonorrhoea (82).

The models also allow investigation of the predicted impact of vaccinating different populations. In one model in an HIC setting, assuming all adolescents aged 13 years in a population received either a nonwaning gonococcal vaccine with 50% efficacy, or a 100% efficacious vaccine, waning after 7.5 years, gonococcal infection prevalence was predicted to be reduced by 90% after 20 years (76). In some settings, gonococcal transmission within a higher-risk group may maintain gonococcal transmission in the whole community. In these settings, targeted vaccination could result in more efficient reductions in gonococcal infection prevalence, even with lower vaccine efficacy and duration of protection, provided a large proportion of the target group can be reached. A model evaluating gonococcal vaccination of all MSM attending sexual health clinics in England predicted that gonococcal incidence could be reduced by 90% over 10 years, either by using a vaccine with approximately 50% protection, lasting 6 years, or one with 70% protection, lasting 3 years (80). Similar modelling studies have not been conducted for LMIC settings.



Young adult in Sierra Leone.

©WHO /Stéphane Saporito

8. Gonococcal vaccine development

The feasibility of developing gonococcal vaccines has been questioned in the past because of the antigenic variability of *N. gonorrhoeae* and its ability to cause repeated infections without inducing protective immunity *(5, 83, 84)*. However, new insights into the immunopathogenesis of gonococcal infection, and emerging data on MenB vaccines and potential cross-protection against *N. gonorrhoeae*, have led to an array of promising approaches to vaccine development.

8.1. Feasibility of gonococcal vaccine development

8.1.1. Gonococcal immunobiology

N. gonorrhoeae has evolved complex strategies to modulate and evade host innate and adaptive immune responses (5, 83). As a result, protective immunity to natural infection does not appear to develop, and repeat infections are common (5, 84-86). No immunologic correlates of protection are known. In addition to extensive variation in the expression and specificity of many gonococcal surface antigens, poor development of a protective immune response after gonococcal infection is likely related to induction of a strong, pro-inflammatory Th17 cellular response to infection, which suppresses Th1 and Th2 cellmediated adaptive immune responses (5, 87). Development of immunity may also be impeded by development of antibodies to the surface reduction modifiable protein (Rmp, also known as outer membrane protein III), which physically block the attachment of antibodies to other surface antigens (88). Thus, gonococcal vaccines will need to induce protective immune responses that are superior to the responses generated during natural infection.

These challenges related to the immunobiology of gonococcal infection thwarted early vaccine development efforts (5). However, recent advances in whole-genome sequencing, proteomics, immunoproteomics and molecular pathogenesis research, similar to the methods used to develop OMV-based MenB vaccines, have resulted in identification of several new, stably expressed and highly conserved antigens that may be effective gonococcal vaccine targets (5, 83).

8.1.2. Serogroup B meningococcal vaccines and gonorrhoea

Optimism about the biologic feasibility of developing gonococcal vaccines has increased because of mounting evidence suggesting OMV-based MenB vaccines may provide cross-protection against gonococcal infections. Given poor immunogenicity of the MenB polysaccharide capsule and its potential cross-reaction with human antigens, MenB vaccines have been OMV- and/or protein-based, rather than the polysaccharide-protein conjugate vaccines that prevent diseases due to other meningococcal serogroups (89). Where these OMV-based MenB vaccines have been used on a large scale, temporally related decreases in gonococcal infection incidence have been observed (4, 90-92). For example, in Cuba, STI surveillance data showed a marked reduction in gonorrhoea incidence, in contrast to other STIs, following mass vaccination of 3-month-olds to 19-year-olds with a locally developed OMV-MenB vaccine (91). This phenomenon was also observed in New Zealand after a mass vaccination campaign with an OMV-based MenB vaccine in response to a MenB outbreak (4). These ecological data were followed up in New Zealand with a case-control study, in which MenB vaccination and gonorrhoea outcome data were linked for analysis. MeNZB, the New Zealand OMV-based MenB vaccine, had an estimated 31% (95% CI: 21–39%) vaccine effectiveness against gonococcal infection among 15 to 30-year-olds attending sexual health clinics (4). A national cohort study of gonorrhoea hospitalizations was also conducted among 1.1 million people eligible for MeNZB vaccination. Adjusted vaccine effectiveness against gonococcal-associated hospitalization was estimated to be 24% (95% CI: 1-42%) for the entire cohort and 47% (95% CI: 18–66%) in those vaccinated during adolescence (81).

OMVs are spherical buds of the outer membrane expressing surface antigens and filled with periplasmic and cytoplasmic proteins produced by *Neisseria* species (92, 93). Several antigens present in OMV-based MenB vaccines are conserved across *N. meningitidis* and *N. gonorrhoeae* (92–94). In a study evaluating sera from people vaccinated with 4CMenB, a licensed MenB vaccine that includes the MeNZB OMV plus three additional antigens, high levels of antibodies induced by vaccination were found to recognize gonococcal antigens (94). 4CMenB also accelerated clearance of *N. gonorrhoeae* in a mouse genital tract infection model (95). Although relevant antibody responses may be short-lived (4), the observational and basic science findings, taken together, provide encouragement that gonococcal vaccines are biologically feasible.

8.2. Gonococcal vaccine development approaches

As of August 2020, the product pipeline for new vaccines against *N. gonorrhoeae* was in the discovery and preclinical stages of development, focusing on the identification of vaccine targets and immune correlates of protection and evaluation in animal models, with gonococcal vaccine candidates not yet being evaluated in human clinical trials (*5, 96*). However, randomized controlled clinical trials of licensed OMV-containing MenB vaccines to prevent gonococcal infections have either started, or are planned to start, in Australia, Thailand and the United States (*97, 98*).

Recent reviews have summarized the most promising antigenic targets, immunologic approaches, and current research and development efforts for gonococcal vaccines (5, 83, 84, 96). The main vaccine approaches include meningococcal OMV vaccines, gonococcal OMV vaccines, a lipooligosaccharide (LOS) epitope and purified protein subunit vaccines (83, 96). Additional strategies involve formalin-inactivated whole-cell *N. gonorrhoeae*, virus-like particles, DNA and mRNAs (99). Vaccine candidates based on these approaches are undergoing evaluation using a variety of different antigen-delivery systems and adjuvants. Novel vaccine delivery systems in development include viral vectors, protein scaffolds, liposome preparations, nanoparticles or nanodiscs, and microarray patches (5, 96, 99).

A meningococcal OMV approach could involve use of existing OMV MenB vaccines, which are currently or soon to be evaluated in clinical trials for efficacy against gonococcal infection (97, 98), or use of new meningococcal OMV vaccines that have been specifically designed to expand or optimize protection against gonorrhoea. Because of the immunosuppressive properties of N. gonorrhoeae, adjuvants or other strategies that avoid or reverse gonococcal-mediated immunosuppression may be critical for gonococcal OMVbased vaccines (100). Given their preclinical status, vaccine candidates designed specifically to optimize efficacy against gonococcal infection, whether OMVs, LOS, purified protein subunits or other approaches, may take a decade or more to become available for use. Thus, expanding the indication of an already licensed MenB vaccine could be an expedited or interim measure for gonococcal control, even if vaccine efficacy is less than optimal. Clinical and immunologic findings from trials of OMV-based MenB vaccines will also provide insights to aid development of more gonococcal-specific vaccines.

Single-pathogen vaccine development is typically more straightforward than development of combination vaccines; however, different combinations of meningococcalgonococcal vaccines incorporating common antigens or fusion proteins with sequences from both *N. meningitidis* and *N. gonorrhoeae* may be possible. A combined vaccine against gonococcal infection and other STIs would be a long-term goal, particularly chlamydial infection, given similar modes of transmission, sites of infection, acute disease syndromes and adverse SRH outcomes. This would still require evaluation and licensure for each pathogen.

8.3. Clinical development considerations

8.3.1. Preclinical evaluation and models of infection

Evaluation of gonococcal vaccine candidates is challenging, as no established surrogate markers or correlates of protection exist. Preclinical testing is based on measuring bactericidal or opsonophagocytic activity, surface-binding antibodies, inhibition of target function, and/or in vivo efficacy of candidate antigen formulations in a female mouse genital tract infection model (5, 83, 96). Transgenic mice have been developed to alleviate some host restrictions, but mice do not fully mimic human infection or disease (5, 83). A controlled human infection model (CHIM) with N. gonorrhoeae exists, consisting of experimental urethral infection among male volunteers (101). The window of study is 1-6 days before infection needs to be treated, and the model is not widely available. Nonetheless, it can be used to assess infection rates upon exposure, measure antibodies, cytokines and cell subsets upon infection, and can provide a relatively rapid, less expensive way to conduct preliminary efficacy evaluations of vaccine candidates in humans (101).

In addition, because currently licensed OMV-containing MenB vaccines might show some cross-protection against gonococcal infection, studies of antibody titres and cellular responses following immunization with these vaccines may provide insight into immune responses providing protection against gonococcal infection. Currently, post-licensure clinical studies of licensed MenB vaccines to determine humoral and cellular immune responses to gonococcal surface antigens are underway in Australia, the United States and Kenya *(97, 98)*.

8.3.2. Clinical trial and endpoint considerations

Vaccine indications reflect the main prevention outcomes to be evaluated in vaccine clinical trials, which in turn provide the basis for regulatory review, market authorization and commercial promotion. Possible indications for gonococcal vaccines include prevention of gonococcal infection (both asymptomatic and symptomatic) and/or specific gonococcalassociated disease outcomes, such as symptomatic urethritis, cervicitis or PID. It is presumed that vaccines preventing gonococcal infection will ultimately prevent the adverse SRH consequences and AMR associated with those infections.

Disease indications may be preferred by regulators over infection indications, although not always, and might be easier to market. However, for several reasons, a primary disease indication may be less desirable for gonococcal vaccines. First, many gonococcal infections are asymptomatic but can still lead to adverse outcomes, particularly in women. With selection of a primary disease indication, a vaccine might show reductions in disease endpoints in a trial but leave residual asymptomatic infections that could still lead to adverse SRH outcomes or propagate AMR. Second, gonococcal infection can be easily and accurately measured in clinical trials with NAATs, but adverse disease outcomes, such as upper genital tract disease in women, are more difficult to measure precisely and confidently ascribe an etiology (23, 102). Reliable biomarkers of gonococcal PID have not yet been identified. PID can be multifactorial and involve coinfections. particularly with chlamydia and organisms associated with bacterial vaginosis. Gonococcal PID also occurs less frequently than infection; therefore trials with this endpoint would be larger and more costly than trials with an infection endpoint. Finally, some important adverse outcomes may

take years to develop following infection, such as infertility, or are best evaluated at a population level, such as AMR.

Given the lack of currently known immune correlates of protection, a large clinical end-point trial will, in all likelihood, be required for gonococcal vaccines. For an infection indication, efficacy trials of gonococcal vaccines would use reduction in gonococcal infections as measured by NAATs as the primary clinical endpoint. Site of infection will be an important consideration, particularly for MSM, among whom rectal and pharyngeal infections may be more common than urethral infections in some settings (103). Infections at the pharyngeal site are also those most implicated in clinical treatment failures (2), highlighting the potential importance of inducing immunity at nonurogenital sites. Ongoing and planned trials of MenB vaccines may provide insights into use of individual versus combined site-specific infection endpoints (98). Collecting additional data about disease outcomes in clinical trials, such as symptomatic gonococcal urethritis, may offer additional indications beyond infection prevention.

Evaluating acquisition of AMR *N. gonorrhoeae* strains and collecting data on antibiotic use in clinical trials will provide valuable information, although the full benefit of vaccines in reducing the impact of AMR will likely need to be measured at the population level in post-licensure studies. Documenting the reduction in such adverse SRH outcomes as infertility and HIV acquisition and transmission in pre-licensure clinical trials is probably not feasible, due to the large number of people that would need to be enrolled and followed for many years. Post-licensure impact studies would most likely be needed to demonstrate the impact of vaccines preventing gonococcal infection in achieving the overarching, long-term public health goals.



At the LGBT Centre in Mongolia.

© WHO

9. Considerations for vaccine implementation

How gonococcal vaccinations should be implemented to optimally meet public health goals will be determined by a complex interplay of factors, including the target populations receiving the vaccine, the vaccine characteristics, and various health systems and programmatic considerations.

9.1. Target populations

The main epidemiologic patterns affecting choice of target populations are differences in gonococcal incidence by geographical location, age and risk group (Section 4). In all settings, gonococcal infections are more common in older adolescents and young adults (15–24 years) than in other age groups, but the overall burden of infection in those ages in the general population varies by geographical location. LMICs with less health infrastructure tend to have a greater burden in general populations, but wide variability can exist among countries, reflecting differences in sexual behavior patterns and sexual networks, among other factors. In HICs, in particular, gonococcal transmission is associated with key and vulnerable populations, such as MSM, and higher incidence can extend into older ages.

Because gonococcal infections among all people can contribute to and be affected by AMR, all can have disease consequences, and for general equity reasons, genderneutral vaccination is desirable. However, the most direct serious gonococcal disease outcomes are among women. In general populations, vaccinating females only could provide direct benefits to them and indirect benefits to others through herd immunity, as has been observed with HPV vaccination of adolescent girls *(104)*. Therefore, although gender-neutral gonococcal vaccination is preferred, additional information about vaccine efficacy in males and females, and the relative cost-effectiveness of different vaccination strategies, could help refine preferences related to gender-neutral versus gender-specific vaccination *(105)*.

Pregnant women may fall into the age category of young people targeted for vaccination; however, maternal immunization has not been identified as a particular need for gonococcal vaccines, given no clear increased susceptibility to gonococcal infection in this group, widely available and affordable ocular prophylaxis for infants to prevent neonatal conjunctivitis, and lack of clarity on the burden of other adverse pregnancy outcomes related to gonococcal infection. Ongoing randomized controlled trials of gonococcal screening and treatment during pregnancy to prevent adverse birth outcomes could clarify whether this group should receive special consideration *(30)*.

9.2. Vaccine characteristics

Ideally, gonococcal vaccines would be delivered in a way that covers all those at risk of acquiring infection before the risk starts, with optimal protection throughout the period of substantial risk. However, pragmatic decisions about when, how and whom to vaccinate will depend on vaccine characteristics. Vaccine efficacy in preventing infection, disease or transmission helps determine population impact and cost effectiveness according to different target groups or delivery strategies.

Choice of target group and delivery strategy will also be affected by vaccine efficacy in those with previous exposure to infection and by the proportion of each group previously exposed. On one hand, effectively immunizing people who have had prior gonococcal infection may be more difficult than immunizing people naïve to infection, due to development of antibodies to Rmp (OMPIII) during natural infection that blocks access of other antibodies to important epitopes (88). This phenomenon would increase the importance of vaccinating prior to sexual debut, but would not be as important for protein subunit vaccines or for OMV-based vaccines in which the *rmp* gene has been deleted (88). On the other hand, it is also possible that prior gonococcal infection might prime the adaptive immune system, resulting in a booster effect with vaccination.

In addition to efficacy, vaccine characteristics affect the programmatic (for example, dose regimen) and biological (for example, durability of protective immunity) feasibility of achieving and sustaining immune protection, respectively. Duration of vaccine protection is a key consideration for determining the appropriate age at vaccination. Evidence regarding OMV-based MenB vaccines suggests possible cross-protection might be short-lived *(4)*. Clearly, the longer the duration of protection, the greater flexibility to vaccinate at earlier ages to achieve benefits through incorporation into other vaccination programmes, such as the HPV vaccine *(105)*. The full duration of immune protection will in all likelihood not be known before initial licensure of a gonococcal vaccine. Efforts to determine correlates of protection and collect other data that may provide insight into the dynamics of the immune

response will be useful in predicting the durability of protection. First-generation vaccines might have shorter durations of protection, which could be improved upon over time.

9.3. Programmatic considerations

Vaccination delivery strategies are tightly linked to the intended target populations and are influenced by an array of health systems and programmatic factors, such as existing vaccination infrastructure. For example, adding gonococcal vaccines to an adolescent vaccination platform, where HPV vaccine is already being delivered, not only makes reaching this target population more feasible, but also more cost-effective due to shared delivery costs. In the past, targeted vaccination programmes focusing on key or vulnerable populations have been difficult to implement (106). However, expansion of PrEP and other HIV prevention programmes for specific populations might provide more efficient platforms for targeted gonococcal vaccination. Furthermore, if gonococcal vaccines have adequate efficacy among those with prior infection, or even a booster effect, administering the vaccine to people diagnosed with gonococcal infection and their partners, and potentially others seeking care for STIs, would be a tailored way of finding those at highest risk.

Considerations related to the epidemiology of infection in different settings, the choice of target populations, vaccine efficacy and duration of protection, and programmatic issues will combine to determine the most impactful and cost-effective strategies to implement gonococcal vaccines. In countries with higher prevalence of gonococcal infections among young sexually active general populations, broad-based vaccination of adolescents before sexual debut would be ideal. The duration of vaccine protection will need to be sufficiently long, such as 10–15 years or more, to cover the period of highest gonococcal risk if it will be infeasible to administer booster doses. More narrowly focused strategies to reach specific populations may be prioritized in countries with low prevalence of gonococcal infection within the general population but with high prevalence in key or vulnerable populations, or if the duration of vaccine protection is likely to be short, such as 2-3 years.

Acceptability of gonococcal vaccines to potential vaccine recipients (and their parents in the case of adolescents) will be a critical component of any gonococcal vaccine delivery strategy. Many countries achieve excellent coverage rates for most vaccines, and vaccines are highly acceptable, while other countries are increasingly affected by vaccine hesitancy. Demonstration of safety and efficacy is essential to counter vaccine hesitancy, but other factors are also important, particularly for STI vaccines, which may be perceived as stigmatizing (15). HPV infection is an STI, but HPV vaccines are not typically viewed as STI vaccines but rather as vaccines to prevent cervical cancer. Gonococcal vaccines may be more clearly associated with an STI. Communication and marketing strategies regarding gonococcal vaccines should be considered in advance, with input from communities affected by gonorrhoea.

Finally, a critical factor in global access and uptake of vaccines relates to their costs. In addition to direct vaccine costs and immunization delivery costs, which may be influenced by the route of vaccine administration, the vaccination regimen and the delivery platform should be amenable to affordable supply so as to increase accessibility of the vaccine, including in LMICs.



Adolescents in India participating in a sexuality education session.

© International Women's Health Coalition

10. Preferred product characteristics for gonococcal vaccines

The strategic public health goals for gonococcal vaccines for global use (section 2.2) form the basis of the WHO PPCs for gonococcal vaccines, with an emphasis on the potential benefits of these vaccines in meeting the needs and perspectives of both LMICs and HICs. Table 1 outlines the preferred characteristics and notes related to "ideal" gonococcal vaccines, namely, those specifically formulated to optimize efficacy against gonococcal infection and related adverse SRH outcomes, and includes additional notes for MenB vaccines with potential crossprotection against gonococcal infection.

Parameter	Preferred characteristic	Notes for gonococcal vaccines	Additional notes for MenB vaccines with potential cross- protection ¹
Vaccine type	Gonococcus-specific vaccine.	Vaccines specifically formulated to optimize efficacy against gonococcal infection and related adverse SRH outcomes ² are preferred. Although several potential candidate gonococcal antigens exist, as of 2020 no vaccines designed <i>de novo</i> for gonococcal infection were in clinical trials. As a result, the product development pathway for gonococcus-specific vaccines is still long, possibly 10–12 years. Gonococcal vaccines must be suitable for use globally because substantial numbers of gonococcal infections occur in all countries, regardless of their stage of economic development.	In observational studies, OMV- based MenB vaccines appeared to provide cross-protection against <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> with an estimated vaccine effectiveness of 20–30% in preventing gonococcal infection and related hospitalizations. A MenB vaccine with an indication to prevent gonococcal infection and/or disease may be available well before a licensed gonococcus- specific vaccine, and therefore may provide an earlier intervention for gonococcal prevention and control. In addition to evaluating existing licensed OMV-based MenB vaccines in ongoing trials, other options include developing new meningococcal vaccines that provide greater cross-protection against gonococcal infection and disease.

Table 1. Preferred product characteristics for gonococcal vaccines

¹ Many of the notes in the "gonococcal vaccine" column also apply to a MenB vaccine with an added indication to prevent gonococcal infection. This column is intended to supplement the notes with additional considerations, or how the preferred characteristics might be thought about differently if a licensed MenB vaccine shows some efficacy against gonococcal infection and/or disease.

² Adverse SRH outcomes related to gonococcal infection include acute gonococcal disease (e.g. urethritis, cervicitis, proctitis, pharyngitis, conjunctivitis) AND complications of initial infection affecting SRH (e.g. pelvic inflammatory disease, infertility, ectopic pregnancy, chronic pelvic pain, epididymo-orchitis) AND associated adverse clinical outcomes of pregnancy (e.g. chorioamnionitis, premature rupture of membranes, preterm birth, neonatal conjunctivitis) AND gonococcal-related HIV acquisition and transmission AND rarer complications (e.g. disseminated gonococcal infection, urethral stricture).

Parameter	Preferred characteristic	Notes for gonococcal vaccines	Additional notes for MenB vaccines with potential cross- protection ¹
Vaccine indication	Prevention of gonococcal infection.	 The ultimate, long-term goals of gonococcal vaccines are to prevent adverse SRH outcomes and reduce the impact of gonococcal AMR. These goals will best be accomplished by the indication of preventing gonococcal infection, for the following reasons: Most gonococcal infections are asymptomatic but can still lead to adverse SRH outcomes, particularly in women; and A vaccine may show efficacy in a trial with a disease endpoint but leave residual asymptomatic infections that could still lead to adverse SRH outcomes or propagate AMR. Existing molecular diagnostic assays can easily and accurately measure gonococcal infection as an outcome variable in Phase III clinical trials, including at different sites of infection. Many gonococcal disease outcomes, such as uppergenital tract infections and complications in women, are more difficult to measure. Collecting data on measurable disease outcomes in clinical trials, such as symptomatic gonococcal urethritis in men, may offer additional vaccine indications beyond infection. Vaccine impact on most adverse SRH outcomes and AMR would likely be difficult to demonstrate in pre-licensure clinical testing. Consideration should be given to collecting supporting evidence for a positive impact on these outcomes during pre-licensure studies and designing post-licensure studies to evaluate them. 	Planned clinical trials to determine the specific efficacy of OMV- based MenB vaccines to prevent gonococcal infection can provide insight on clinical endpoints for measuring gonococcal infection and other short-term disease outcomes; for example, the relative incidence of different outcomes according to anatomical site (urogenital, oropharyngeal and/or rectal). If already licensed OMV-based MenB vaccines show some efficacy against gonococcal infection, measuring their impact on adverse SRH outcomes and AMR could be done sooner and in parallel with developing more optimized gonococcal vaccines.

Many of the notes in the "gonococcal vaccine" column also apply to a MenB vaccine with an added indication to prevent gonococcal infection. This column is intended to supplement the notes with additional considerations, or how the preferred characteristics might be thought about differently if a licensed MenB vaccine shows some efficacy against gonococcal infection and/or disease.

Parameter	Preferred characteristic	Notes for gonococcal vaccines	Additional notes for MenB vaccines with potential cross-protection ¹
Target populations	Young people AND/OR Specific populations at higher risk for gonococcal infection.	 WHO defines young people as those between the ages of 10 and 24 years, including adolescents (10–19 years) and young adults (20–24 years). Specific populations at higher risk for gonococcal infection are defined here in two categories: key and vulnerable populations. Key populations for gonococcal infection are disproportionately affected in most contexts and include men who have sex with men (MSM), sex workers, transgender people and people living with HIV (PLHIV). Vulnerable populations are at higher risk for gonococcal infection in certain situations or contexts that may vary between and within countries. Some examples include: incarcerated people; ethnic minorities or Indigenous populations with historical barriers to healthcare access; and migrants or young people living in communities with known high rates of gonococcal infection or HIV, especially young women, who have the greatest risk of adverse SRH consequences from gonococcal infection. The choice of broad-based vaccination of young people and/or targeted vaccination of specific populations at higher risk for gonococcal infection gonococcal epidemiology vaccine efficacy in those with prior infection duration of vaccine protection cost-effectiveness analyses programmatic considerations (see "Vaccine delivery strategy" below). These factors can also help refine the precise age range to be targeted among young people. Universal vaccination of young people before first sexual exposure to gonococcal infection, and aligned with existing vaccine delivery infrastructure, would be ideal, but would require durable vaccine efficacy, which may influence vaccine effectiveness among higher-risk populations. 	The incidence of invasive MenB disease has substantial variability by geographic location and over time. The highest incidence is among infants, but disease occurs at all ages. Outbreaks can affect multiple age groups. In HICs that use MenB vaccines, infant vaccination is emphasized; however, a few countries recommend MenB vaccines for young people living in areas where close contact is frequent (for example, people entering university or the military) or for special populations. These populations may overlap with potential target populations for gonococcal vaccines. Many LMICs with a high prevalence of gonococcal infection in the general population either do not appear to have significant MenB disease incidence or do not utilize MenB vaccine widely because the cost is prohibitive. Better data are needed to understand the epidemiological overlap and populations at risk for both pathogens, as well as to understand the factors contributing to MenB vaccine use in different settings. If the preferred target populations in a setting comprise only a small proportion of the population, expanding an existing licensed vaccine may be more favourable economically than developing a <i>de novo</i> vaccine for that group.

¹ Many of the notes in the "gonococcal vaccine" column also apply to a MenB vaccine with an added indication to prevent gonococcal infection. This column is intended to supplement the notes with additional considerations, or how the preferred characteristics might be thought about differently if a licensed MenB vaccine shows some efficacy against gonococcal infection and/or disease.

Parameter	Preferred characteristic	Notes for gonococcal vaccines	Additional notes for MenB vaccines with potential cross-protection ¹
Vaccine efficacy	50 to 70% efficacy or greater.	Existing mathematical models suggest that a vaccine with 50% efficacy or greater could have a marked effect in reducing gonococcal infection prevalence at a population level, particularly if vaccine coverage is high and protection lasts through periods of highest gonococcal infection risk. Preferred vaccine efficacy levels will be refined with updated vaccine impact models, input from key stakeholders, and further information about likely vaccine characteristics from ongoing research. If MenB vaccines are found to provide cross- protection and are being used for prevention of gonococcal infection, gonococcus-specific vaccines should have significantly superior efficacy.	Observational studies suggest the effectiveness of an OMV- based MenB vaccine against gonococcal infections may be 20–30%, which models predict could still have a substantial effect in reducing prevalence of gonococcal infection in the population. A lower efficacy could be acceptable for broadening use of MenB vaccines to prevent gonococcal infection compared with use of a standalone gonococcal vaccine, given an existing indication for MenB disease prevention, particularly in countries with a history of MenB endemic disease and/or outbreaks.
Duration of protection	The long-term goal is at least 10–15 years' duration for vaccinating young adolescents without a booster. However, shorter durations of protection (e.g. 3–5 years) could still provide benefits for older age groups and specific populations at higher risk.	Ideally, vaccine-induced protection from gonococcal infection should last throughout the timeframe of highest risk of infection. Therefore, the optimal duration of protection depends on target age. In most settings, peak incidence appears to be in young adults (20–24 years). For young adolescents (10–14 years), duration of protection might need to be 10–15 years or more to cover the period of peak incidence, or a booster dose may be needed. However, for older adolescents or young adults, shorter durations of protection could cover the period of highest risk. Periods of high risk may be observed over shorter time frames, such as during the use of PrEP for HIV prevention. Therefore, for some populations at higher risk, a duration of protection of only 3–5 years may still have substantial benefits. Duration of vaccine protection will likely not be known at the time of initial licensure. Although the aspirational, long-term goal for duration of protection is at least 10–15 years, first-generation vaccines may have shorter durations of protection: for example, 3–5 years. Modelling of vaccine impact and cost-effectiveness can guide use of initial vaccines with potentially limited duration of protection in different epidemiologic settings. Research to determine correlates of protection will be valuable for predicting and assessing duration of protection, as will post-licensure effectiveness data.	The duration of protection of existing MenB vaccines against MenB disease is unknown, but most likely around 36 months following three doses in infancy. Similarly short-lived protection has been suggested in observational studies of MenB vaccines to prevent gonococcal infection. Therefore, one or more booster doses may be required to cover the period of highest risk for gonococcal infection.

1 Many of the notes in the "gonococcal vaccine" column also apply to a MenB vaccine with an added indication to prevent gonococcal infection. This column is intended to supplement the notes with additional considerations, or how the preferred characteristics might be thought about differently if a licensed MenB vaccine shows some efficacy against gonococcal infection and/or disease.

Parameter	Preferred characteristic	Notes for gonococcal vaccines	Additional notes for MenB vaccines with potential cross-protection ¹
Vaccine delivery strategy	Young people: alignment with existing vaccine delivery infrastructure. Populations at higher risk: integration with HIV prevention programmes and other SRH services.	The most appropriate vaccine delivery strategies in different settings will be determined by target populations, vaccine characteristics, and related health systems and programmatic factors. Universal vaccination of young people may be more straightforward programmatically than delivering vaccine in a targeted fashion to higher- risk populations, who may be harder to identify and reach. Gonococcal vaccination in early adolescence would allow use of existing adolescent vaccine delivery infrastructure. However, the effectiveness of this approach would depend on duration of vaccine protection. In settings where gonococcal infection incidence is low in the general population but concentrated within specific populations at higher risk, a more focused vaccination programme might more efficiently interrupt community-wide transmission, depending on how easily these populations can be reached. Demand sizing and evaluation of care- seeking patterns of specific target populations will be informative. Although targeted vaccination programmes have been difficult to implement in the past, the expansion of HIV prevention programmes and other SRH services, such as increasing use of PrEP and outreach programmes for key populations, might offer novel opportunities to deliver more focused gonococcal vaccination. Communication, community outreach and marketing strategies regarding gonococcal vaccines should be considered in advance. Unlike HPV vaccines, which are widely seen as cancer-prevention vaccines, gonococcal vaccines will likely be more clearly associated with a sexually transmitted infection, which may affect acceptability, particularly to parents of adolescents.	In settings where target populations for MenB vaccine already include young people, such as those entering university or military recruits, vaccinating with an OMV-based MenB vaccine to also prevent gonococcal infection would be relatively straightforward. Adoption and uptake of existing MenB vaccines remain relatively low globally. Expanding the indication of an existing MenB vaccine to include gonococcal infection prevention could make this vaccine more cost-effective and may affect the decision to introduce MenB vaccines in more countries and in new target populations. Meningitis may be perceived as less stigmatizing than gonococcal infection. Initial promotion of the use of MenB vaccines with some potential to prevent gonococcal infection among adolescents may increase acceptability of a specific gonococcal vaccine later.

Many of the notes in the "gonococcal vaccine" column also apply to a MenB vaccine with an added indication to prevent gonococcal infection. This column is intended to supplement the notes with additional considerations, or how the preferred characteristics might be thought about differently if a licensed MenB vaccine shows some efficacy against gonococcal infection and/or disease.

Parameter	Preferred characteristic	Notes for gonococcal vaccines	Additional notes for MenB vaccines with potential cross-protection ¹
Route of vaccine administration	Oral or parenteral delivery.	Local mucosal immunity likely plays an important role in protection against gonococcal infection. An oral mucosal route is preferred for ease of administration in LMIC settings. Mucosal delivery via other routes, such as intra- nasal, might induce appropriate immune responses but will be more difficult to deploy, particularly in resource-constrained settings. Parenteral routes of administration include intramuscular and subcutaneous injections and intradermal routes, which can be needle-free, such as via a transdermal or microarray patch. Needle-free methods are preferred for ease of administration. Vaccine presentation and stability characteristics that facilitate storage and deployment in LMIC settings should also be considered.	Observational studies of OMV- based MenB vaccines suggest that protective mucosal immunity against gonococcal infection can result from a parenteral vaccine.
Adjuvant	Preference for no adjuvant unless required for immunogenicity.	Adjuvant could be included if proven enhancement of vaccine immunogenicity and efficacy is demonstrated in primary target populations. Adjuvant formulations with previously demonstrated safety profiles in the target population are likely to be well tolerated.	Existing licensed OMV- based MenB vaccines are adjuvanted with aluminium hydroxide.
Schedule	Ideally, up to two doses for primary immunization.	Depending on the vaccine platform and formulation, two to three doses may be required for strong and durable immunity. Research should determine the requirements for alternative primary dosing or booster doses. This might be post-licensure, as for HPV vaccines. If more than one dose is needed, aligning the dosing schedule with existing delivery platforms, such as the vaccine delivery schedule for HPV or meningococcal vaccination, is preferable.	The typical vaccination schedule for available OMV- based MenB vaccines is a two-dose primary series, followed by a booster dose at 1 year of age for infants and a two-dose primary series for older ages, including adolescents and young adults. Because the period of highest risk for gonococcal infection is typically longer than the risk period for meningococcal infection, a booster dose will likely be needed if this vaccine is also intended to prevent gonococcal infection over longer periods.

Many of the notes in the "gonococcal vaccine" column also apply to a MenB vaccine with an added indication to prevent gonococcal infection. This column is intended to supplement the notes with additional considerations, or how the preferred characteristics might be thought about differently if a licensed MenB vaccine shows some efficacy against gonococcal infection and/or disease.

Parameter	Preferred characteristic	Notes for gonococcal vaccines	Additional notes for MenB vaccines with potential cross-protection ¹
Safety	A safety and reactogenicity profile at least as favourable as other WHO-recommended routine vaccines.	A favourable safety profile will need to be demonstrated in adults before progressing to vaccination of young adolescents, as was done for HPV vaccine.	The safety profile of licensed MenB vaccines has been established.
Concomitant use	Demonstration of favourable safety and immunologic noninterference upon coadministration with other vaccines recommended for use.	Lack of clinically important interference in immunogenicity for gonococcal vaccines and for coadministered vaccines, as well as the safety of coadministration, should be documented in post- licensure studies. Evidence should be collected on the ability to coadminister gonococcal vaccines with other vaccines given in similar target populations: for example, HPV; tetanus, diphtheria and acellular pertussis (Tdap); and meningitis vaccines in adolescents and young adults.	If OMV-based MenB vaccines are found to show cross- protection against gonococcal infection, evidence should be collected to evaluate for clinically important interference with this effect when MenB vaccines are coadministered with other vaccines.
Value assessment and affordability	The vaccine should be cost-effective and price should not be a barrier to access, including in LMICs. Dosage, regimen and cost of goods should be amenable to affordable supply.	Obtaining more comprehensive data on the burden of adverse health outcomes related to gonococcal infection, including in LMICs, will allow more precise quantification of the full potential value of gonococcal vaccines. The value of gonococcal vaccines is heavily influenced by increasing gonococcal AMR and its predicted effect on clinical treatment failures, the costs of treatment, and increases in gonococcal infection and disease outcomes.	The cost-effectiveness of existing MenB vaccines would become more favourable if they are found to prevent gonococcal infection in addition to MenB disease.
Prequalification and programmatic suitability	The vaccine should be pre-qualified according to the WHO process outlined (107).	WHO-defined criteria for programmatic suitability of vaccines should be met <i>(108, 109)</i> .	

Many of the notes in the "gonococcal vaccine" column also apply to a MenB vaccine with an added indication to prevent gonococcal infection. This column is intended to supplement the notes with additional considerations, or how the preferred characteristics might be thought about differently if a licensed MenB vaccine shows some efficacy against gonococcal infection and/or disease.

11. References

- Global progress report on HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmitted infections, 2021. Accountability for the global health sector strategies 2016–2021: actions for impact. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. (<u>https://www.who.int/</u> publications/i/item/9789240027077).
- (2) Unemo M, Lahra MM, Cole M, Galarza P, Ndowa F, Martin I et al. World Health Organization Global Gonococcal Antimicrobial Surveillance Program (WHO GASP): review of new data and evidence to inform international collaborative actions and research efforts. Sex Health. 2019; doi:10.1071/SH19023 (<u>https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanmic/article/</u> <u>PIIS2666-5247(21)00171-3/fulltext</u>).
- (3) Global health sector strategy on sexually transmitted infections, 2016–2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/rtis/ghss-stis/en/, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (4) Petousis-Harris H, Paynter J, Morgan J, Saxton P, McArdle B, Goodyear-Smith F et al. Effectiveness of a group B outer membrane vesicle meningococcal vaccine against gonorrhoea in New Zealand: a retrospective case-control study. Lancet. 2017;**390**(10102):1603–10.
- (5) Russell MW, Jerse AE, Gray-Owen SD. Progress toward a gonococcal vaccine: the way forward. Front Immunol. 2019;**10**(2417):1–18.
- (6) Preferred product characteristics and target product profiles. Geneva: World Health Organization (<u>https://www.who.int/</u> <u>teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/product-and-delivery-research/ppcs</u>, accessed 27 August 2021).
- (7) Assessing the programmatic suitability of vaccine candidates for WHO prequalification. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (<u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/76537/WHO_IVB_12.10_eng.</u> pdf;jsessionid=43D26B701787DBC50E236250F0EB9098?sequence=1, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (8) Guidelines on clinical evaluation of vaccines: regulatory expectations. In: WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization: sixty-seventh report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (Annex 9 WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1004. 2017 <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/255657/9789241210133-eng.</u> pdf;jsessionid=29A072A35730BBAD8810CFEEE4194865?sequence=1, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (9) From vaccine development to policy: a brief review of WHO vaccine-related activities and advisory processes. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2017 (<u>https://www.who.int/immunization/policy/WHO_vaccine_development_policy.pdf?ua=1</u>, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (10) Broutet N, Fruth U, Deal C, Gottlieb SL, Rees H. Vaccines against sexually transmitted infections: the way forward. Vaccine. 2014;**32**(14):1630–7.
- (11) Gottlieb SL, Deal CD, Giersing B, Rees H, Bolan G, Johnston C et al. The global roadmap for advancing development of vaccines against sexually transmitted infections: update and next steps. Vaccine. 2016;**34**(26):2939–47.
- (12) Executive summary: The 6th annual meeting of the WHO Product Development for Vaccines Advisory Committee (PDVAC), 26-28 June 2019. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (<u>https://www.who.int/immunization/research/meetings_workshops/PDVAC_2019_exec_summary.pdf?ua=1</u>, accessed 30 June 2021).
- (13) Vaccines to tackle drug-resistant infections. An evaluation of R&D opportunities. Wellcome Trust and Boston Consulting Group (<u>https://vaccinesforamr.org/read-the-report/</u>, accessed 30 June 2021).
- (14) Value attribution framework for vaccines against antimicrobial resistance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (<u>https://www.who.int/immunization/research/meetings_workshops/5_Hasso_Prudden_AMR_PDVAC_2019.pdf?ua=1</u>, accessed 30 June 2021).

- (15) Gottlieb SL, Ndowa F, Hook EW, Deal C, Bachmann L, Abu-Raddad L et al. Gonococcal vaccines: public health value and preferred product characteristics; report of a WHO global stakeholder consultation, January 2019. Vaccine. 2020;**38**(28):4362–73.
- (16) Quillin SJ, Seifert HS. Neisseria gonorrhoeae host adaptation and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2018;16(4):226-40.
- (17) Kirkcaldy RD, Weston E, Segurado AC, Hughes G. Epidemiology of gonorrhoea: a global perspective. Sex Health. 2019. 16(5): 401–411.
- (18) Gonococcal infections in the adult. In: Sexually Transmitted Diseases, Holmes KK et al, editors. New York: McGraw-Hill Medical; 2008:627–45.
- (19) Torrone EA, Morrison CS, Chen P, Kwok C, Francis SC, Hayes RJ et al. Prevalence of sexually transmitted infections and bacterial vaginosis among women in sub-Saharan Africa: An individual participant data meta-analysis of 18 HIV prevention studies. PLoS Med. 2018;15(2):e1002511.
- (20) Detels R, Green AM, Klausner JD, Katzenstein D, Gaydos C, Hunter Handsfield H et al. The incidence and correlates of symptomatic and asymptomatic *Chlamydia trachomatis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* infections in selected populations in five countries. Sex Transm Dis. 2011;**38**(6):503–9.
- (21) Korenromp EL, Sudaryo MK, de Vlas SJ, Gray RH, Sewankambo NK, Serwadda D et al. What proportion of episodes of gonorrhoea and chlamydia becomes symptomatic? Int J STD AIDS. 2002;**13**(2):91–101.
- (22) Martin-Sanchez M, Ong JJ, Fairley CK, Chen MY, Williamson DA, Maddaford K et al. Clinical presentation of asymptomatic and symptomatic heterosexual men who tested positive for urethral gonorrhoea at a sexual health clinic in Melbourne, Australia. BMC Infect Dis. 2020;**20**(1):486.
- (23) Brunham RC, Gottlieb SL, Paavonen J. Pelvic inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(21):2039-48.
- (24) Wiesenfeld HC, Hillier SL, Meyn LA, Amortegui AJ, Sweet RL. Subclinical pelvic inflammatory disease and infertility. Obstet Gynecol. 2012;**120**(1):37–43.
- (25) Weström L, Joesoef R, Reynolds G, Hagdu A, Thompson SE. Pelvic inflammatory disease and fertility. A cohort study of 1,844 women with laparoscopically verified disease and 657 control women with normal laparoscopic results. Sex Transm Dis. 1992;**19**(4):185–92.
- (26) Haggerty CL, Gottlieb SL, Taylor BD, Low N, Xu F, Ness RB. Risk of sequelae after *Chlamydia trachomatis* genital infection in women. J Infect Dis. 2010;**201** Suppl 2:S134–55.
- (27) Ness RB, Soper DE, Holley RL, Peipert J, Randall H, Sweet RL. Effectiveness of inpatient and outpatient treatment strategies for women with pelvic inflammatory disease: results from the Pelvic Inflammatory Disease Evaluation and Clinical Health (PEACH) randomized trial. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2002;**186**(5):929–37.
- (28) Hillis SD, Joesoef R, Marchbanks PA, Wasserheit JN, Cates Jr W, Westrom L. Delayed care of pelvic inflammatory disease as a risk factor for impaired fertility. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1993;**168**(5):1503–9.
- (29) Chemaitelly H, Majed A, Abu-Hijleh F, Blondeel K, Christopher Matsaseng T, Kiarie J et al. Global epidemiology of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in infertile populations: systematic review, meta-analysis and metaregression. Sex Transm Infect. 2020.
- (30) Grant JS, Chico RM, Lee AC, Low N, Medina-Marino A, Molina RL et al. Sexually transmitted infections in pregnancy: a narrative review of the global research gaps, challenges, and opportunities. Sex Transm Dis. 2020;**47**(12):779–789.
- (31) Heumann CL, Quilter LAS, Eastment MC, Heffron R, Hawes SE. Adverse birth outcomes and maternal Neisseria

gonorrhoeae infection: a population-based cohort study in Washington State. Sex Transm Dis. 2017;44(5):266-271.

- (32) Mullick S, Watson-Jones D, Beksinska M, Mabey D. Sexually transmitted infections in pregnancy: prevalence, impact on pregnancy outcomes, and approach to treatment in developing countries. Sex Transm Infect. 2005.**81**(4):294–302.
- (33) Laga M, Meheus A, Piot P. Epidemiology and control of gonococcal ophthalmia neonatorum. Bull World Health Organ. 1989;**67**(5):471–7.
- (34) WHO guidelines for the treatment of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Geneva: World Health Organization (<u>https://www.who.int/</u> <u>reproductivehealth/publications/rtis/gonorrhoea-treatment-guidelines/en/</u>, accessed 30 June 2021).
- (35) Cohen MS, Council OD, Chen JS. Sexually transmitted infections and HIV in the era of antiretroviral treatment and prevention: the biologic basis for epidemiologic synergy. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;**22**(6).
- (36) Hayes R, Watson-Jones D, Celum C, van de Wijgert J, Wasserheit J. Treatment of sexually transmitted infections for HIV prevention: end of the road or new beginning? AIDS. 2010;**24**(4):S15–26.
- (37) Fleming DT, Wasserheit JN. From epidemiological synergy to public health policy and practice: the contribution of other sexually transmitted diseases to sexual transmission of HIV infection. Sex Transm Infect. 1999;**75**(1):3–17.
- (38) Guvenc FR, Kaul R, Gray-Owen SD. Intimate relations: molecular and immunologic interactions between *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae and HIV-1. Front Microbiol. 2020;**11**:1299.
- (39) Dhont N, Muvunyi C, Luchters S, Vyankandondera J, De Naeyer L, Temmerman M et al. HIV infection and sexual behaviour in primary and secondary infertile relationships: a case-control study in Kigali, Rwanda. Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87(1):28–34.
- (40) Cohen MS, Hoffman IF, Royce RA, Kazembe P, Dyer JR, Daly CC et al. Reduction of concentration of HIV-1 in semen after treatment of urethritis: implications for prevention of sexual transmission of HIV-1. AIDSCAP Malawi Research Group. Lancet. 1997;349(9069):1868–73.
- (41) Johnson LF, Lewis DA. The effect of genital tract infections on HIV-1 shedding in the genital tract: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sex Transm Dis. 2008;**35**(11):946–59.
- (42) Boivin J, Carrier J, Mumba Zulu J, Edwards D. A rapid scoping review of fear of infertility in Africa. Reprod Health. 2020;**17**(1):142.
- (43) Crew PE, Abara WE, McCulley L, Waldron PE, Kirkcaldy RD, Weston EJ et al. Disseminated gonococcal infections in patients receiving eculizumab: a case series. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;**69**(4):596–600.
- (44) Sonnenberg P, Clifton S, Beddows S, Field N, Soldan K, Tanton C et al. Prevalence, risk factors, and uptake of interventions for sexually transmitted infections in Britain: findings from the national surveys of sexual attitudes and lifestyles (Natsal). Lancet. 2013;**382**(9907):1795–806.
- (45) Kularatne RS, Niit R, Rowley J, Kufa-Chakezha T, Peters RPH, Taylor MM et al. Adult gonorrhea, chlamydia and syphilis prevalence, incidence, treatment and syndromic case reporting in South Africa: estimates using the Spectrum-STI model, 1990–2017. PloS One. 2018;**13**(10):e0205863.
- (46) Vallely LM, Toliman P, Ryan C, Rai G, Wapling J, Tomado C et al. Prevalence and risk factors of *Chlamydia trachomatis*, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, *Trichomonas vaginalis* and other sexually transmissible infections among women attending antenatal clinics in three provinces in Papua New Guinea: a cross-sectional survey. Sex Health. 2016;**13**(5):420–7.

- (47) Sexually transmitted disease surveillance 2018. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019 (<u>https://www.cdc.gov/std/stats18/default.htm</u>, accessed 30 June 2021).
- (48) European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Gonorrhoea Annual Epidemiological Report for 2017. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. 2019 (<u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/gonorrhoea-annual-epidemiological-report-2017</u>, accessed 30 June 2021).
- (49) Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment, and care for key populations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 Update (<u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241511124</u>, accessed 18 August 2021).
- (50) Greenall M, Kunii O, Thomson K, Bangert R, Nathan O. Reaching vulnerable populations: lessons from the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. Bull World Health Organ. 2017;**95**(2):159–161.
- (51) Karim SSA Baxter C. HIV incidence rates in adolescent girls and young women in sub-Saharan Africa. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;**7**(11):e1470-e1471.
- (52) Sexually transmitted infections and screening for chlamydia in England, 2018. Public Health England; 2019 (<u>https://pcwhf.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/hpr1919_stis-ncsp_ann18.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (53) Ong JJ, Baggaley RC, Wi TE, Tucker JD, Fu H, Kumi Smith M et al. Global epidemiologic characteristics of sexually transmitted infections among individuals using preexposure prophylaxis for the prevention of HIV infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;**2**(12):e1917134.
- (54) HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmissible infections in Australia: Annual surveillance report 2018. UNSW The Kirby Institute for Infection and Immunity in Society; 2018 (<u>https://kirby.unsw.edu.au/report/hiv-viral-hepatitis-and-sexually-transmissible-infections-australia-annual-surveillance</u>, accessed 27 August 2021).
- (55) Cates W, Farley TM, Rowe PJ. Worldwide patterns of infertility: is Africa different? Lancet. 1985; 2(8455):596-8.
- (56) Global action plan to control the spread and impact of antimicrobial resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. World Health Organization (<u>https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/rtis/9789241503501/en/</u>, accessed 30 June 2021).
- (57) Global priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria to guide research, discovery, and development of new antibiotics. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (<u>https://www.who.int/medicines/publications/WHO-PPL-Short_Summary_25Feb-ET_NM_WHO.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (58) Reygaert WC. An overview of the antimicrobial resistance mechanisms of bacteria. AIMS Microbiol. 2018;4(3):482–501.
- (59) Unemo M, Shafer WM. Antimicrobial resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in the 21st century: past, evolution, and future. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2014;**27**(3):587–613.
- (60) Wi T, Lahra MM, Ndowa F, Bala M, Dillon JR, Ramon-Pardo P et al. Antimicrobial resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: Global surveillance and a call for international collaborative action. PLoS Med. 2017;**14**(7):e1002344-e1002344.
- (61) Eyre DW, Sanderson ND, Lord E, Regisford-Reimmer N, Chau K, Barker L et al. Gonorrhoea treatment failure caused by a *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strain with combined ceftriaxone and high-level azithromycin resistance, England, February 2018. Euro Surveillance: Bulletin Europeen Sur Les Maladies Transmissibles = European Communicable Dis Bull. 2018;23(27).
- (62) Fifer H, Natarajan U, Jones L, Alexander S, Hughes G, Golparian D et al. Failure of dual antimicrobial therapy in treatment of gonorrhea. N Engl J Med. 2016;**374**(25):2504–6.
- (63) Unemo M, Bradshaw CS, Hocking JS, de Vries HJC, Francis SC, Mabey D et al. Sexually transmitted infections: challenges ahead. Lancet Infect Dis. 2017;**17**(8):e235–e279.

- (64) Vallely LM, Toliman P, Ryan C, Rai G, Wapling J, Gabuzzi J et al. Performance of syndromic management for the detection and treatment of genital *Chlamydia trachomatis*, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Trichomonas vaginalis* among women attending antenatal, well woman and sexual health clinics in Papua New Guinea: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2017;7(12):e018630.
- (65) Wi TE, Ndowa FJ, Ferreyra C, Kelly-Cirino C, Taylor MM, Toskin I et al. Diagnosing sexually transmitted infections in resource-constrained settings: challenges and ways forward. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;**22**(6):e25343.
- (66) Toskin I, Murtagh M, Peeling RW, Blondeel K, Cordero J, Kiarie J. Advancing prevention of sexually transmitted infections through point-of-care testing: target product profiles and landscape analysis. Sex transm infect. 2017;**93**(S4):S69–S80.
- (67) Dona V, Low N, Golparian D, Unemo M. Recent advances in the development and use of molecular tests to predict antimicrobial resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2017;**17**(9):845–59.
- (68) Alirol E, Wi TE, Bala M, Bazzo ML, Chen X, Deal C et al. Multidrug-resistant gonorrhea: a research and development roadmap to discover new medicines. PLoS Med. 2017;**14**(7):e1002366.
- (69) Chow EPF, Walker S, Hocking JS, Bradshaw CS, Chen MY, Tabrizi SN et al. A multicentre double-blind randomised controlled trial evaluating the efficacy of daily use of antibacterial mouthwash against oropharyngeal gonorrhoea among men who have sex with men: the OMEGA (Oral Mouthwash use to Eradicate GonorrhoeA) study protocol. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;**17**(1):456.
- (70) McKee DL, Hu Z, Stahlman S. Incidence and sequelae of acute pelvic inflammatory disease among active component females, US Armed Forces, 1996–2016. MSMR. 2018;**25**(10):2–8.
- (71) Mohammed H, Blomquist P, Ogaz D, Duffell S, Furegato M, Checchi M et al. 100 years of STIs in the UK: a review of national surveillance data. Sex Transm Infect. 2018;**94**(8):553–8.
- (72) Moore MS, Golden MR, Scholes D, Kerani RP. Assessing trends in chlamydia positivity and gonorrhea incidence and their associations with the incidence of pelvic inflammatory disease and ectopic pregnancy in Washington State, 1988–2010. Sex Transm Dis. 2016;43(1):2–8.
- (73) Bloom DE, Black S, Salisbury D, Rappuoli R. Antimicrobial resistance and the role of vaccines. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2018;**115**(51):12868–12871.
- (74) Kennedy DA, Read AF. Why the evolution of vaccine resistance is less of a concern than the evolution of drug resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2018;**115**(51):12878–86.
- (75) Klugman KP, Black S. Impact of existing vaccines in reducing antibiotic resistance: primary and secondary effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2018;**115**(51):12896–901.
- (76) Craig AP, Gray RT, Edwards JL, Apicella MA, Jennings MP, Wilson DP et al. The potential impact of vaccination on the prevalence of gonorrhea. Vaccine. 2015;**33**(36):4520–5.
- (77) Garnett GP. The theoretical impact and cost-effectiveness of vaccines that protect against sexually transmitted infections and disease. Vaccine. 2014;**32**(14):1536–42.
- (78) Grad YH, Goldstein E, Lipsitch M, White PJ. Improving control of antibiotic-resistant gonorrhea by integrating research agendas across disciplines: key questions arising from mathematical modeling. J Infect Dis. 2016;**213**(6):883–90.
- (79) Régnier SA, Huels J, Potential impact of vaccination against *Neisseria meningitidis* on *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in the United States: results from a decision-analysis model. Hum Vaccines Immunother. 2014;**10**(12):3737–45.

- (80) Whittles LK, White PJ, Didelot X. Assessment of the potential of vaccination to combat antibiotic resistance in gonorrhea: a modeling analysis to determine preferred product characteristics. Clin Infect Dis.; 71(8):1912-19.
- (81) Paynter J, Goodyear-Smith F, Morgan J, Saxton P, Black S, Petousis-Harris H. Effectiveness of a group B outer membrane vesicle meningococcal vaccine in preventing hospitalization from gonorrhea in New Zealand: a retrospective cohort study. Vaccines. 2019;7(1):5.
- (82) Heijne J, Xiridou M, Turner K, Van Benthem B, Low N. The impact of gonorrhoea vaccination in men who have sex with men on prevalence and resistance: mathematical modelling study. Sex Transm Infect. 2019;**95**(1):A232.
- (83) Rice PA, Shafer WM, Ram S, Jerse AE. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: Drug resistance, mouse models, and vaccine development. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2017;**71**:665–686.
- (84) Vincent LR, Jerse AE. Biological feasibility and importance of a gonorrhea vaccine for global public health. Vaccine. 2019;37(50):7419-26.
- (85) Fox KK, Thomas JC, Weiner DH, Davis RH, Sparling PF, Cohen MS. Longitudinal evaluation of serovar-specific immunity to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Am J Epidemiol. 1999;**149**(4):353–358.
- (86) Mehta SD, Erbelding EJ, Zenilman JM, Rompalo AM. Gonorrhoea reinfection in heterosexual STD clinic attendees: longitudinal analysis of risks for first reinfection. Sex Transm Infect. 2003;**79**(2):124–8.
- (87) Liu Y, Islam EA, Jarvis GA, Gray-Owen SD, Russell MW. Neisseria gonorrhoeae selectively suppresses the development of Th1 and Th2 cells, and enhances Th17 cell responses, through TGF-β-dependent mechanisms. Mucosal Immunol. 2012;5(3):320–331.
- (88) Gulati S, Mu X, Zheng B, Reed GW, Ram S, Rice PA. Antibody to reduction modifiable protein increases the bacterial burden and the duration of gonococcal infection in a mouse model. J Infect Dis. 2015;**212**(2):311–315.
- (89) Dretler AW, Rouphael NG, Stephens DS. Progress toward the global control of *Neisseria meningitidis*: 21st century vaccines, current guidelines, and challenges for future vaccine development. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2018;**14**(5): 1146–60.
- (90) Longtin J, Dion R, Simard M, Betala Belinga J, Longtin Y, Lefebve B et al. Possible impact of wide-scale vaccination against serogroup B *Neisseria meningitidis* on gonorrhea incidence rates in one region of Quebec, Canada. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2017;**4**:S734–5.
- (91) Pérez O, del Campo J, Cuello M, González E. Mucosal approaches in *Neisseria* Vaccinology. VacciMonitor. 2009;**18**(2):53–5.
- (92) Petousis-Harris H. Impact of meningococcal group B OMV vaccines, beyond their brief. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2018;**14**(5):1058–63.
- (93) Beernink PT, Ispasanie E, Lewis LA, Ram S, Moe GR, Granoff DM. A meningococcal native outer membrane vesicle vaccine with attenuated endotoxin and overexpressed factor H binding protein elicits gonococcal bactericidal antibodies. J Infect Dis. 2019;**219**(7):1130–7.
- (94) Semchenko EA, Tan A, Borrow R, Seib KL. The serogroup B meningococcal vaccine Bexsero elicits antibodies to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;**69**(7):1101–11.

- (95) Connolly KL, Leduc I, Rahman N, Sempowski G, Jerse A. The group B meningococcal vaccine Bexsero induces antibodies that recognize several candidate gonorrhea vaccine targets and shows protective efficacy against experimental *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* genital tract infection in mice. In: Proceedings of the 21st International Pathogenic *Neisseria* Conference. 2018: Pacific Grove, CA, USA.
- (96) Gottlieb SL, Jerse AE, Delany-Moretlwe S, Deal C, Giersing BK. Advancing vaccine development for gonorrhoea and the global STI vaccine roadmap. Sex Health. 2019; 16(5):426-432.
- (97) Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry. 2020 (<u>https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.</u> <u>aspx?id=376715</u>, accessed 30 June 2021).
- (98) Clinical Trials Database. National Institutes of Health; 2020 (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/</u> results?cond=gonorrhea&term=meningococcal&cntry=&state=&city=&dist=, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (99) Gala RP, Zaman RU, D'Souza MJ, Zughaier SM. Novel whole-cell inactivated *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* microparticles as vaccine formulation in microneedle-based transdermal immunization. Vaccines. 2018;**6**(3):60.
- (100) Liu Y, Hammer LA, Liu W, Hobbs MM, Zielke RA, Sikora AE et al. Experimental vaccine induces Th1-driven immune responses and resistance to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* infection in a murine model. Mucosal Immunol. 2017;**10**(6):1594–1608.
- (101) Hobbs MM, Frederick Sparling P, Cohen MS, Shafer WM, Deal CD, Jerse AE. Experimental gonococcal infection in male volunteers: cumulative experience with *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strains FA1090 and MS11mkC. Front Microbiol. 2011;**2**:123–123.
- (102) Zhong G, Brunham RC, de la Maza LM, Darville T, Deal C. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases workshop report: chlamydia vaccines: the way forward. Vaccine. 2019;**37**(50):7346–7354.
- (103) Traeger MW, Cornelisse VJ, Asselin J, Price B, Roth NJ, Willcox J et al. Association of HIV preexposure prophylaxis with incidence of sexually transmitted infections among individuals at high risk of HIV infection. JAMA. 2019;**321**(14):1380– 1390.
- (104) Drolet M, Bénard E, Pérez N, Brisson M. Population-level impact and herd effects following the introduction of human papillomavirus vaccination programmes: updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2019;**394**(10197):497–509.
- (105) World Health Organization. Human papillomavirus vaccines: WHO position paper, May 2017 recommendations. Vaccine. 2017;**35**(43):5753–5.
- (106) Hoover KW, Butler M, Workowski KA, Follansbee S, Gratzer B, Hare CB et al. Low rates of hepatitis screening and vaccination of HIV-infected MSM in HIV clinics. Sex Transm Dis. 2012;**39**(5):349–53.
- (107) Procedure for assessing the acceptability, in principle, of vaccines for purchase by United Nations agencies. In: WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization: sixty-first report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (Annex 6 WHO Technical Report Series, No. 978: <u>https://www.who.int/biologicals/expert_committee/TRS_978_61st_report.pdf?ua=1</u>, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (108) Vaccine Presentation and Packaging Advisory Group. Generic preferred product profile for vaccines, Version 2.1. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (<u>http://www.who.int/immunization/policy/committees/VPPAG_Generic_PPP_and_Workplan.pdf?ua=1</u>, accessed 1 July 2021).
- (109) Assessing the programmatic suitability of vaccine candidates for WHO prequalification. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (<u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/76537/WHO_IVB_12.10_eng.pdf;jsessionid=43D26B701787D</u>, accessed 1 July 2021).



For more information, contact:

World Health Organization Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and STI Programmes

20, avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Email: <u>hiv-aids@who.int</u> <u>www.who.int/teams/global-hiv-hepatitis-</u> <u>and-stis-programmes/sti</u>

ISBN 978-92-4-003982-7

